Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Autoimmunity Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/autrev



# Review Diagnosis and classification of autoimmune hemolytic anemia



## Garrett F. Bass<sup>a</sup>, Emily T. Tuscano<sup>a</sup>, Joseph M. Tuscano<sup>b,c,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> California Polytechnic State University, Department of Biochemistry, San Luis Obispo, CA, United States

<sup>b</sup> Division of Hematology and Oncology, Department of Internal Medicine, University of California, Davis, Cancer Center, 4501 X St., Suite 3016, Sacramento, CA 95817, United States

<sup>c</sup> Department of Veterans Affairs, Northern California Healthcare System, 150 Muir Road, Martinez, CA 94553, United States

## A R T I C L E I N F O

## ABSTRACT

Article history: Accepted 13 November 2013 Available online 11 January 2014 Uncompensated autoantibody-mediated red blood cell (RBC) consumption is the hallmark of autoimmune hemolytic anemia (AIHA). Classification of AIHA is pathophysiologically based and divides AIHA into warm, mixed or cold-reactive subtypes. This thermal-based classification is based on the optimal autoantibody-RBC reactivity temperatures. AIHA is further subcategorized into idiopathic and secondary with the later being associated with a number of underlying infectious, neoplastic and autoimmune disorders. In most cases AIHA is confirmed by a positive direct antiglobulin test (DAT). The standard therapeutic approaches to treatment of AIHA include corticosteroids, splenectomy, immunosuppressive agents and monoclonal antibodies.

Published by Elsevier B.V.

### Contents

| 1.   | Introduction                                  | 56 | 50 |
|------|---|----|----|
| 2.   | Epidemiology                                  | 56 | 51 |
| 3.   | Pathophysiology and classification            | 56 | 51 |
|      | 3.1. Warm autoimmune hemolytic anemia (wAIHA) | 56 | 51 |
|      | 3.1.1. Primary and secondary wAIHA            | 56 | 51 |
|      | 3.2. Cold autoimmune hemolytic anemia (cAIHA) | 56 | 51 |
|      | 3.2.1. Cold agglutinin syndrome (CAS)         | 56 | 51 |
|      | 3.3. Paroxysmal cold hemoglobinuria (PCH)     | 56 | 51 |
|      | 3.4. Mixed-type AIHA (mAIHA)                  | 56 | 52 |
|      | 3.5. Drug-induced AIHA (diAIHA)               | 56 | 52 |
| 4.   | Clinical manifestations                       | 56 | 52 |
| 5.   | Diagnosis                                     | 56 | 52 |
|      | 5.1. wAIHA                                    | 56 | 52 |
|      | 5.2. cAIHA                                    | 56 | 53 |
|      | 5.3. diAIHA                                   | 56 | 53 |
|      | 5.4. mAIHA                                    | 56 | 53 |
| 6.   | Treatment                                     | 56 | 53 |
|      | 6.1. wAIHA                                    | 56 | 53 |
|      | 6.2. cAIHA                                    | 56 | 53 |
|      | 6.3. diAIHA                                   | 56 | 53 |
| Refe | erences                                       | 56 | 53 |

## 1. Introduction

Hematology has long fascinated mankind. As early as 400 BC Hippocrates toiled with the humoral theory that attempted to correlate blood components with health and disease. Early studies such as those

\* Corresponding author at: Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Hematology and Oncology, 4501 X Street, Suite 3016, Sacramento, CA 95817, United States. Tel.: +1 916 734 3771; fax: +1 916 734 2361.

E-mail address: joseph.tuscano@ucdmc.ucdavis.edu (J.M. Tuscano).

by Andral in 1843 first described idiopathic anemia described as "without previous blood loss" and "typically associated with darkened urine" [1]. The first association of hemolytic anemia with jaundice specifically being distinguished from hepatic diseases was described by Hayem in 1898. Hayem is credited with the initial description of congenital and acquired hemolytic anemias [1,2]. A more complete understanding of human hematology led to what is considered to be the first description of autoantibody-mediated autoimmune disease by Donath and Landsteiner in the early 1900s. Further refinements in analytical methods

<sup>1568-9972/\$ –</sup> see front matter. Published by Elsevier B.V. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.autrev.2013.11.010

led to a better understanding of the immune system, and based on this in 1951 autoimmune hemolytic anemia (AIHA) was first described as a specific disorder [1].

## 2. Epidemiology

AIHA is now known as a disease in which autoantibodies are produced that target RBC antigens, resulting in the premature destruction with inadequate compensation [3,4]. This group of diseases is relatively rare, affecting approximately 1–3 in 100,000 annually [5–7]. AIHA is primarily limited to adults although children with primary immunodeficiency disease or autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome (ALPS) are commonly affected [8]. Children often develop a more self-limited disease course often precipitated by viral illness. Adults tend to develop a more severe and relentless disease process that frequently requires treatment and can, on occasion, be life-threatening. While there is no age or familial predispositions, there are known associations that include malignant lymphoproliferative diseases, drugs and viral infections, however the majority of cases have an unknown cause and are considered idiopathic [9].

#### 3. Pathophysiology and classification

Classification of AIHA is pathophysiologically based and divides AIHA into warm, mixed or cold-reactive subtypes, Table 1. This thermal-based classification is based on the optimal RBC-autoantibody reactivity temperatures. AIHA can be further classified into primary (idiopathic) or secondary in nature [5,6,10-12]. Further sub-classification of cold AIHA (cAIHA) includes primary and secondary cold agglutinin syndrome (CAS) and paroxysmal cAIHA [10–12].

While AIHA and cAIHA constitute much of the AIHA prevalence some less frequent types do arise, namely mixed-type AIHA (mAIHA) and drug-induced AIHA (diAIHA) Table 1. diAIHA is even more rare, afflicting an estimated 1 in 1 million. diAIHA can be classified into subcategories depending on if the drug is required to be present for hemolytic activity (drug-dependent AIHA), or if hemolytic activity is observed without the drug present (drug-independent AIHA) [13]. While each subtype of AIHA is innately part of the same family, pathogenesis, diagnostics, treatments, and prognosis vary greatly. Accurate diagnosis is

#### Table 1

Classifications of autoimmune hemolytic anemia.

```
I. Warm reactive AIHA: Optimal reactivity of autoantibodies at 37 °C
```

A. Primary or idiopathic

II. Cold reactive AIHA: Optimal reactivity of autoantibodies <37 °C

```
A. Cold agglutinin syndrome
```

- A. Primary or idiopathic
- B. Secondary

- i. Often associated with rheumatic disorders IV. Drug induced AIHA: Associated with an estimated 150 drugs
  - A. Drug dependent AIHA
  - i. Hapten or drug absorption
  - ii. Immune (ternary) complex

B. Drug independent AIHA

therefore crucial to assess clinical manifestations, predisposing factors and treatment optimization.

## 3.1. Warm autoimmune hemolytic anemia (wAIHA)

#### 3.1.1. Primary and secondary wAIHA

An estimated 1 in 80.000 are afflicted by wAIHA, constituting about 75% of all AIHA cases. Idiopathic AIHA accounts for approximately half of all wAIHA [10]. wAIHA is the subtype that most often affects children ages 2–12 [14]. Secondary wAIHA is associated with various conditions including infectious mononucleosis, systematic lupus erythematosus (SLE), autoimmune hepatitis, human immunodeficiency virus, and other lymphoproliferative or autoimmune disorders [6,11,12,15]. Of AIHA-associated lymphoproliferative disorders chronic lymphocytic lymphoma (CLL) is the most common cause [16]. In fact, roughly 11% of CLL patients develop secondary wAIHA, while an annual incidence of 2-3% is observed in patients with non-Hodgkin's and Hodgkin's lymphoma [14–17].

The polyclonal immunoglobulin (Ig) class IgG is typically involved in the autoantibody activity of warm AIHA (wAIHA), showing maximal reactivity with erythrocytes at 37 °C. Less frequently however, wAIHA can be associated with IgA and IgM. wAIHA exhibits a depleted immune tolerance of RBCs commonly due to the binding of self-antibodies to Rh proteins, causing Fc-gamma receptors to mediate removal of RBCs extravascularly within the spleen [10]. wAIHA has recently been linked to a number of immune system imbalances. Interleukin-12 (IL-12) and interleukin-10 (IL-10) imbalances are believed to mediate the altered immune response in some patients with AIHA [18,19]. The pattern of IL-10 and IL-12 production is generally thought to play a role in the pathogenesis of wAIHA and correlates with increased activity of the Type-2 Helper T Cell (Th2) pathway and the inhibition of Type-1 Helper T Cell (Th1) pathway [18,19]. The domination of the Th2 pathway leads to increased autoantibody production mediating AIHA [18-20].

## 3.2. Cold autoimmune hemolytic anemia (cAIHA)

## 3.2.1. Cold agglutinin syndrome (CAS)

CAS is much less prevalent than wAIHA, comprising about 15% of all AIHA cases, primarily occurring in the middle aged or elderly. CAS causes AIHA in a complement-dependent manner where autoantibody-dependent lysis is mediated primarily by C3 proteins, leading to intravascular hemolysis upon detachment of antibodies at 37 °C [21]. Targeted RBC phagocytosis is primarily mediated by liver Kupffer cells while the membrane attack complex (MAC) is a minor mechanism if the IgM titre is relatively low. The presence of cold stress increases autoantibody activity, facilitating RBC lysis particularly in the extremities. A notable feature of CAS is a high variability in hemolysis, and in turn the need for transfusions varies greatly from patient to patient [21]. The degree of hemolysis in CAS patients is primarily dependent on active autoantibody concentration, rather than the more abundant membrane bound C3 protein concentration [21,22].

#### 3.3. Paroxysmal cold hemoglobinuria (PCH)

PCH, also known as Donath-Landsteiner syndrome and is a form of cAIHA activated primarily by polyclonal IgG antibodies (Donath-Landsteiner antibody) [15]. Similarly to CAS, PCH activates complement at cold temperatures. Complement activation is via P-antigen binding on RBCs with subsequent intravascular hemolysis being initiated upon rewarming to normal body temperatures [15,23]. PCH is considered a form of secondary AIHA and typically develops within the first week after infection most often seen in children. The infections are primarily upper respiratory, and the causative agent is often not identified. Latestage or congenital syphilis was historically linked to cases of PCH in adulthood but this is becoming less and less common [15,23].

B. Secondary

i. Associated with various lymphoproliferative disorders (e.g., non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, chronic lymphocytic leukemia)

ii. Associated with rheumatic disorders (e.g., systemic lupus erythematosis (SLE)) iii. Associated with non-lymphoid malignancies (e.g., ovarian cancer)

iv. Associated with chronic inflammatory disorders (e.g., ulcerative colitis)

v. Drug induced autoimmune hemolytic anemia

i. Primary or idiopathic

ii. Secondary

a. Post-infectious (e.g., mycoplasma or infectious mononucleosis) b. Associated with B cell lymphoproliferative disorder

B. Paroxysmal cold hemogloburina (Donath-Landsteiner syndrome)

III. Mixed type AIHA: Characterized by the presence of both warm and cold type autoantibodies

## 3.4. Mixed-type AIHA (mAIHA)

mAIHA is characterized by the presence of both warm and cold type antibodies as well as both IgG and IgM antibody subtypes. mAIHA accounts for less than 5% of the total AIHA incidence, and is even less common in children [24]. mAIHA can be both idiopathic or arise secondarily from malignant or autoimmune disorders such as SLE or lymphoma. It can be difficult to determine which autoantibodies (IgG or IgM) and the required thermal range are causative. Patients with mAIHA can have both warm and cold components that can react with different antigens.

## 3.5. Drug-induced AIHA (diAIHA)

DiAIHA is relatively rare, may go undiagnosed in many cases, and the magnitude of hemolysis can vary widely. There are estimated to be 150 drugs that are known to be associated with diAIHA and are categorized by drug-independent (via auto-antibodies) and drug-dependent antibodies (Table 2) [25–27]. Drug-dependent AIHA can be categorized into two subtypes: 1) hapten type which is due to the noncovalent binding of the drug to the RBC which is then targeted by the autoantibody in a drug-dependent manner: 2) drug-autoantibody immune (ternary) complexes that are mediated by a complement-dependent hemolysis that is drug dependent.

A drug-dependent antibody (DDAB) activates a response only while the drug is present. This class is the most common case of diAIHA and can be mechanistically variable depending on the molecular nature of the drug and it's RBC interaction. DDAB may specifically attach to the drug, the drug's metabolites, and/or drug-RBC neoantigens. Antibiotics cefotetan and high doses of penicillin are the best understood mediators of diAIHA. The binding of the DDAB mediates RBC phagocytosis via Fc receptor-mediated mechanisms similar to wAIHA with the notable difference that the autoantibody binds directly to the RBC in wAIHA and to the drug-bound RBC in diAIHA.

Other drugs such as ceftriaxone and piperacillin interact with the membrane of RBCs but bind via RBC neoantigens. It is uncertain how drug binds to the membrane and if the complex formed is covalent or loosely bound. The drug and RBC membrane form an immune complex mediating DDAB binding to the drug, membrane, or equal proportions of the drug–membrane complex [27].

In contrast drug independent antibodies (DIABs), are capable of creating an autoimmune response in the absence of the offending drug. Various mechanisms exist by which drugs (i.e. fludarabine, cladribine, methyldopa) stimulate autoantibody formation via adsorption, immune dysregulation, or other mechanisms but none of which have been fully elucidated.

#### Table 2

Representative drugs and their associations with drug induced autoimmune hemolytic anemia.

- I. Hapten and drug adsorption mechanisms
- a. Drugs such as penicillins, cephalosporins, tetracycline, carbromal, hydrocortisone, oxaliplatin, and tolbutamide
- II. Immune/ternary complex mechanisms
- a. Drugs such as stibophen, metformin, quinine, quinidine, cephalosporins, amphotericin b, rifampicin, antazolinc, thiopental, tolmetin, probenecid, nomifensine, cephalosporins, diclofenac and doxepin
- III. Autoantibody mechanism
- a. Drugs such as cephalosporins, tolmetin,  $\alpha$ -methyldopa, L-dopa, mefenamic acid, teniposide, pentostatin, cladribine, fludarabine, lenalidomide, procainamide and diclofenac
- IV. Non-immunologic protein adsorption
- a. Cephalosporins, carboplatin, cisplatin and oxaliplatin
- V. Unknown methods of AIHA causation
- a. Drugs such as mesantoin, phenacetin, insecticides, chlorpromazine, acetaminophen, ibuprofen, thiazides, omeprazole, carboplatin, nalidixic acid, erythromycin, and streptomycin

The most common drug usage linked to diAIHA is methyldopa, which can continue in a subject months after cessation of the drug. The common treatment practice for diAIHA is mediated via blood transfusion and discontinuation of the offending agent. Most drugs are cleared from the system quickly and the drug-dependent antibodies only persist in the case where there is a persistence of RBC membrane-bound [27,28].

## 4. Clinical manifestations

Presenting complaints of AIHA are usually referable to the anemia itself, although occasionally jaundice is the primary manifestation. The onset of symptoms is typically slow or insidious over several months, but occasionally a patient may manifest with acute severe life threatening symptoms. In secondary AIHA the symptoms of the underlying or precipitating disease may overshadow the manifestations of AIHA. The physical examination may be normal with splenomegaly being present in approximately 20% of patients. However in very severe cases that are often of rapid onset patients may present with fever, pallor, jaundice, hepatosplenomegaly, tachycardia, angina and heart failure. Many patients with cAIHA have a more insidious chronic hemolytic anemia. In other patients the typical feature is episodic, acute hemolysis with hemoglobinuria mediated by chilling. Combinations of these clinical features may also occur. Acrocyanosis and other coldmediated vasooclusive phenomenon may affect the fingers, toes, nose and ears [5,26].

In PCH constitutional symptoms are prominent during a paroxysm. Within minutes to hours of cold exposure the patient typically develops aching pains, abdominal cramps, headache, often followed by chills and fever. The first passed urine after the onset of symptoms typically contains hemoglobin.

Evaluation for diAIHA should be assessed by a careful history of drug exposure in every patient with AIHA and/or a positive DAT. As with idiopathic AIHA the clinical manifestations of diAIHA can be quite variable. In general patients with hapten/drug absorption (i.e. penicillin) and autoimmune (i.e. methyldopa) types of diAIHA exhibit mild to moderate hemolysis, with insidious onset over a period of days to weeks. In contrast, the immune or ternary complex-mediated diAIHA (i.e. cephalosporins or quinidine) typically is associated with a sudden onset of severe hemolysis and hemoglobinuria [25–27].

## 5. Diagnosis

## 5.1. wAIHA

The first and most important criterion for the diagnosis of AIHA is the recognition of hemolysis and anemia. The appearance of jaundice and abnormally dark urine is usually suggestive of hemolysis but is only present in approximately 60% of patients. When diagnosing AIHA it is important to first rule out other causes of hemolysis such as microagiopathy, hereditary conditions (i.e. spherocytosis or G6PD) or sickle cell anemia. The predominant laboratory features are a positive direct antiglobulin test (DAT) and elevated reticulocyte count [10]. The DAT, also known as Coombs' test, is a common laboratory diagnostic tool used to detect bound immunoglobulins or fragments of complement proteins in a sample of RBCs [29]. This method of detecting immunoglobulin- and complement-bound RBCs is the primary serologic test available in diagnosing and differentiating forms of hemolytic anemia. Anti-human globulins (AHGs) are used to asses the presence of antibody coated RBCs via agglutination. If a polyspecific AHG test is positive, a monospecific test is done to determine if specific Ig or complement is present. Because wAIHA is most commonly caused by IgG classes, an IgG<sup>+</sup> DAT is typically indicative of wAIHA. Confirmation of wAIHA is by negative complement fixation via the Coombs' test. While the DAT remains the most prominent test in diagnosing AIHA, there are some drawbacks, namely that it is labor intensive, costly, and subject to some degree of operator error. Between 2% and 10% of all AIHA patients are Coombs' negative, which is likely due to varying sensitivity of the test and other factors. Recently, flow cytometry has demonstrated increased sensitivity for the detection of RBC-bound Ig. The use of flow cytometry can also be employed to confirm clinical suspicions that indicate AIHA in DAT negative cases [30,31].

## 5.2. cAIHA

While wAIHA cases are almost exclusively caused by IgG autoantibodies, CAS is dominated in 90% of cases by IgM thus an IgM<sup>+</sup> DAT typically indicates CAS; however, a small number of IgA and IgG-mediated cases do arise [21]. DAT testing for anti-C3D is also highly indicative of CAS and considered necessary in most diagnoses of CAS, as opposed to wAIHA that is indicated by negative complement fixation. A patient showing a positive Coombs' test for anti-C3D and negative for IgG antiglobulins is typically then assessed for thermal reactivity, and CAS is further suggested if thermal reactivity levels peak at 4 °C and are present until 30 °C [21]. While the manifestations of PCH are similar to CAS, it is typically diagnosed both serologically as well as clinically. A major feature distinguishing PCH from CAS is the fact that PCH is far more common in children with infection, while CAS is typically limited to adults [21]. A DAT<sup>+</sup> result is almost always seen in PCH, thus leading to the necessity for a Donath–Landsteiner antibody test to be performed as well [23].

#### 5.3. diAIHA

Hemolysis facilitated by drug dependent antibodies can typically be detected after two weeks of starting the offending drug. diAIHA often goes unnoticed because regular red blood cell transfusions and presurgical screens are the only things that would initiate an evaluation. If suspicions do arise a DAT should be done and if positive should precipitate a screen of the patients' medical record for potential medications known to be associated with diAIHA. In appropriate patients additional testing may be needed to assess for the presence of drug dependent or independent antibodies.

#### 5.4. mAIHA

Symptoms of mAIHA are often consistent with both wAIHA and cAIHA; having autoantibodies optimally reactive at both 37 °C and in the 0–10 °C range. Commonly, RBC agglutination on the peripheral blood smear is found along with a positive DAT for both IgG and C3 [24].

#### 6. Treatment

#### 6.1. wAIHA

Unfortunately there are few prospective clinical trials that have established treatment standards for patients with AIHA. The majority of the data is from retrospective case studies and recommendations are often experience-based. There is no accepted consensus on the definition of complete (CR) or partial remission (PR) or refractoriness. Many of these patients have an insidious course and transfusions are not required. However occasionally when there is rapid hemolysis and/or the patient has co-morbidity-mediated symptoms (i.e. cardiac, pulmonary) transfusions are indicated and may be lifesaving. Despite crossmatching transfused RBCs are often consumed as fast as or faster than host RBCs and are only considered a temporizing measure in critically ill patients. Glucocorticoids are the mainstay of treatment for wAIHA with two-thirds responding with 20% achieving a complete response. Responding patients are tapered slowly over 2-3 months. However relapses are common and the patient must be monitored carefully [5,26,32]. If the patient does not respond (approximately one-third), cannot be tapered (approximately one-third) or relapses, alternate therapies must be considered. Second line treatment includes splenectomy and the anti-CD20 mAb, rituximab. While there are no randomized trails and evidence is primarily historical, most recommend splenectomy in surgical candidates. Two-thirds of splenectomized patients will respond and approximately 60% will have a hematocrit greater than 30% [33]. In addition most patients that recur after splenectomy do need as high of a dose of steroids to maintain acceptable hematocrits. In patients that fail or are not splenectomy candidates rituximab is a reasonable option with overall response rates at approximately 80%. While long term follow-up is not available recent studies have reported that approximately 80% of responding patients are relapse free two years after treatment initiation [34–36]. For patients that have failed splenectomy rituximab salvage therapy options include retreatment with glucocorticoids, danazol, cyclophosphamide and azathioprine with response rates in the 40–60% range [33]. High dose immunoglobulin and plasmapheresis have unproven efficacy and should only be used when all other approaches have failed.

#### 6.2. cAIHA

cAIHA is generally more insidious and mild with few patients needing treatment. Keeping the patient warm is important and may be the only maneuver necessary for patients with mild cases. Rituximab is useful for acute symptomatic cases and chlorambucil and cyclophosphamide for more severe chronic cases [37]. Splenectomy and glucocorticoids are less effective for cAIHA. Plasmapheresis may provide some temporary relief in critically ill patients. Post-infectious cAIHA is often self-limited.

## 6.3. diAIHA

Discontinuation of the offending drug is often the only treatment necessary and in severe cases may be life-saving. Glucocorticoids are typically not necessary and of questionable efficacy. Rituximab and splenectomy are unproven and usually not considered.

#### References

- Mack P, Freedman J. Autoimmune hemolytic anemia: a history. Transfus Med Rev 2000;14(3):223–33.
- [2] Allgood JW, Chaplin H. Idiopathic acquired autoimmune hemolytic anemia: a review of forty-seven cases treated from 1955 through 1965. Am J Med 1967;43(2):254–73.
- [3] Coombs RRA, Mourant AE, Race EE. A new test for the detection of weak and incomplete Rh agglutinins. Br J Exp Pathol 1945:255.
- [4] Boorman KE, Dodd BE, Loutit JF. Haemolytic icterus (acholuric jaundice), congenital and acquired. Lancet 1946;1:812.
- [5] Petz LD, Garrratty G. Immune hemolytic anemias. Philadelphia: Churchill Livingstone; 2004.
- [6] Sokol RJ, Hewitt S, Stamps BK. Autoimmune haemolysis: an 18-year study of 865 cases referred to a regional transfusion centre. Br Med J 1981;282:2023.
- [7] Chaplin H, Avioli LV. Autoimmune hemolytic anemia. Arch Intern Med 1977;137:346.
- [8] Olivera JB, Bleesing JJ, Dianzani U, Fleisher TA, Jaffe ES, et al. Revised diagnostic criteria and classification for the autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome (ALPS): report from the 2009 NIH international workshop. Blood 2010;116:e35–40.
- [9] Hashimoto C. Autoimmune hemolytic anemia. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 1998;16(3):285–95.
- [10] Dacie JV. The haemolytic anaemias. The autoimmune haemolytic anaemias, vol. 3. New York: Churchill Livingstone; 1992.
- [11] Shulman IA, Branch DR, Nelson JM, et al. Autoimmune hemolytic anemia with both cold and warm autoantibodies. JAMA 1985;253:1746.
- [12] Kajii E, Miura Y, Ikemoto S. Characterization of autoantibodies in mixed-type autoimmune hemolytic anemia. Vox Sang 1991;60:46.
- [13] Pierce A, Nester T. Pathology consultation on drug-induced hemolytic anemia. Am J Clin Pathol 2011;136:7–12.
- [14] Gehrs B, Friedberg R. Autoimmune hemolytic anemia. Am J Hematol 2002;69:258-71.
- [15] Sokol RJ, Hewitt S, Stamps BK. Autoimmune haemolysis: mixed warm and cold antibody type. Acta Haematol 1983;69:266.
- [16] Crowther M, Chan T, Garbett IK, Lim W, Vickers MA. Evidence-based focused review of the treatment of idiopathic warm immune hemolytic anemia in adults. Blood 2011;118:15.
- [17] Berensten S, Bo K, Shammas F, et al. Chronic cold agglutinin disease of the "idiopathic" type is a premalignant or low-grade malignant lymphoproliferative disease. APMIS 1997;105:354.

- [18] Ward FJ, Hall AH, Cairns LS, Leggat AS, Urbaniak SJ, Vickers MA, et al. Clonal regulatory T cells specific for a red blood cell autoantigen in human autoimmune hemolytic anemia. Blood 2008;111(2):680–7.
- [19] Toriani-Terenzi C, Fagiolo E. IL-10 and the cytokine network in the pathogenesis of human autoimmune hemolytic anemia. Ann NY Acad Sci 2005;1051:29–44.
- [20] Ahmad E, Elgohary T, Ibrahim H. Naturally occurring regulatory T cells and interleukins 10 and 12 in the pathogenesis of idiopathic warm autoimmune hemolytic anemia. | Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 2011;21(4):297–304.
- [21] Świecicki PL, Hegerova LT, Gertz MA. Cold agglutinin disease. Blood 2013;122(7):1114-21.
- [22] Petz Lawrence. Cold antibody autoimmune hemolytic anemias. Blood Rev 2008;22(1):1–15.
- [23] Wolach B, Heddle N, Barr RD, et al. Transient Donath-Landsteiner hemolytic anemia. Br | Haematol 1981;48:425.
- [24] Mayer B, Yurek S, Kiesewetter H, Salama A. Mixed-type autoimmune hemolytic anemia: differential diagnosis and a critical review of reported cases. Transfusion 2008;48(10):2229–34.
- [25] Garratty G. Immune hemolytic anemia associated with drug therapy. Blood Rev 2010;24:143–50.
- [26] Kaushansky K, Lichtman MA, Beutler E, et al. Williams Hematology. 8th ed. McGraw Hill; 2010 777–80.
- [27] Garratty G. Immune hemolytic anemia caused by drugs. Expert Opin Drug Saf 2012;11(4):635–42.
- [28] Arndt PA, Garratty G. The changing spectrum of drug-induced anemia. Semin Hematol 2005;42(3):137–44.

- [29] Zantek ND, Koepsell SA, Tharp Jr DR, Cohn CS. The direct antiglobulin test: a critical step in the evaluation of hemolysis. Am J Hematol Jul 2012;87(7):707–9.
- [30] Roback JD, Barclay S, Hillyer CD. An automatable format for accurate immunohematology testing by flow cytometry. Transfusion 2003;43:918–27.
- [31] Thedsawad A, Taka O, Wanachiwanawin W. Development of flow cytometry for detection and quantitation of red cell bound immunoglobulin G in autoimmune hemolytic anemia with negative direct Coombs test. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol 2011;29(4):364–7.
- [32] Lechner K, Jager U. How I treat autoimmune hemolytic anemias in adults. Blood 2010;116:1831–8.
- [33] Coon WW. Splenectomy in the treatment of hemolytic anemia. Arch Surg 1985;120(5):625–8.
- [34] D'Arena G, Califano C, Annunziata M, et al. Rituximab for warm-type idiopathic autoimmune hemolytic anemia: a retrospective study of 11 adult patients. Eur J Haematol 2007;79(1):53–8.
- [35] Bussone G, Ribeiro E, Dechartres A, et al. and safety of rituximab in adults' warm antibody autoimmune haemolytic anemia: retrospective analysis of 27 cases. Am J Hematol 2009;84(3):153–7.
- [36] Barcellini W, Francesco Z, Zaninoni A, et al. Low dose rituximab in adult patients with idiopathic hemolytic anemia: clinical efficacy and biologic studies. Blood 2012;119:3691–7.
- [37] Berentsen S, Ulvestad E, Gjertsen BT, et al. Rituximab for primary chronic cold agglutinin disease: a prospective study of 37 courses of therapy in 27 patients. Blood 2004;103(8):2925–8.